I.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT


Plaintiff-appellant, Roy Den Hollander, (“plaintiff”), an attorney at law, submits this brief in reply
 to defendants-appellees Kuba, Mundy & Associates, Nicholas J. Mundy and Peter Petrovich’s brief in opposition (“Mundy Brief”); Flash Dancers Topless Club’s brief (“FlashDancers Brief”); Cybertech Internet Solutions’ brief (“Cybertech Brief”); Marc Paulsen’s brief (“Paulsen Brief”); Alina Shipilina’s brief (“Shipilina Brief”); and the Municipal or Detective Robert Henning’s brief (“Henning Brief”).  Defendant-appellee Bank of Cyprus did not submit a brief.

The following nomenclature applies: cites to defendants-appellees’ briefs, District Court’s Order (“Order”), and plaintiff-appellant’s initial brief (“Hollander Brief”) are to the document’s page number hyphen paragraph on that page, which may or may not be a full paragraph.  Cites to the Complaint or Supplemental Complaint are to paragraphs.  “A” with numbers refers to pages in the Joint Appendix.  “Mundy” refers to the law firm, Mundy and Petrovich
.

Plaintiff filed a motion requesting this Court to reject the Mundy Brief and Henning Brief for violating the formatting rules of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure (“F.R.A.P.”) §32 and Local Rule §32.  In the alternative, the motion requested designated sections of the Mundy Brief be removed for (1) numerous citations outside the Appendix in violation of F.R.A.P. §30 and Local Rule §11(e), (2) many ad hominem attacks in furtherance of defendants’ strategy of litigation by personal destruction, violating F.R.A.P. §§28(b) and Local Rule §28, (3) interjecting defendants own irrelevant factual allegations that violate Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), F.R.A.P. §28(b) and Local Rule §28, and (4) breaching the Blue Book’s citation system.  The motion also requested deleting parts of Henning and FlashDancers’ briefs for citing documents outside the Appendix, removal of irrelevant allegations in FlashDancers Brief and ad hominems in the Shipilina Brief.  Reversal of the District Court’s order for the Bank of Cyprus was requested for failure to file a brief.  Plaintiff moved for monetary sanctions against the attorneys responsible.                         

II.  DEFENSE LAWYERS RE-WRITE THE COMPLAINT WHILE INTERJECTING THEIR OWN IRRELEVANT ALLEGATIONS. 

This is an appeal of a Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) dismissal—not an appeal from summary judgment or trial verdict. 

The Mundy Brief includes numerous factual allegations that are not part of the plaintiff-appellant’s pleadings.  Mundy’s attorneys invent their own averments, claimed as facts, while selectively editing, juxtaposing and misstating plaintiff’s allegations in order to create a shadow pleading that fits their legal arguments and character assassination strategy.  They try to muster support for their fabricated allegations, more appropriate for an answer they never submitted, by citing to over 380 pages of documents they filed below.   These documents
 and assertions should not be relied upon in deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion because it’s the plaintiff’s pleadings that are considered true, California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508, 515, 30 L. Ed. 2d 642, 92 S.Ct. 609 (citation omitted)(1972), not the defendants’ opinions nor their inaccurate protestations or misplaced assertions, In re Warfarin Sodium, 214 F.3d 395, 398 (3rd Cir. 2000)(consideration of facts gleaned from counsel’s argument are factors not contemplated by the dictates of Rule 12(b)(6)).  “[T]he defendants seek to argue the merits … in the context of a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, which is not the purpose of the motion.”  T.S. Haulers, Inc. v. Town of Riverhead, 190 F.Supp.2d 455, 464 (E.D.N.Y. 2002)(citing see Villager Pond Inc. v. Town of Darien, 56 F.3d 375, 378 (2d Cir.1995). 

Examples of the many misrepresentations, prevarications, irrelevancies and efforts to substitute defendants’ allegations (mostly Mundy Brief pp 2-25) for the plaintiff’s pleadings are included for reference in footnote 5 at this reply’s end.  Space limitations make it impossible to expose all their dissembling.

The following allegory basically summarizes what happened to plaintiff as alleged in his pleadings:  While sailing the waters of the former Soviet Union in his Sun Fish, working for Kroll Associates, along comes this juggernaut of pimps, prostitutes, pornographers, pushers and assorted criminals of Russian, Chechen, American and other nationalities, including a few lunatics from the Chechen Special Islamic Regiment.  The juggernaut, ever scanning for the easy prey of softhearted American businessmen, spots plaintiff, and sends out one of its prostitutes as bait: a tall, blue-eyed, bleached blonde.  Using duplicity and drugs, the plaintiff’s Sun Fish is torpedoed, heads to the bottom.  He’s sunk—married to a Russian prostitute who is a member of Russian organized crime although he doesn’t know it at the time.  Plaintiff brings his wife of a few months to America, and the Russian mafia gets another one of its assets into the premier hard-currency market in the world.  While this was happening to plaintiff, it was and continues to happen to others.  When plaintiff finally came up for air: he struggled, tried to get free, fought back to protect his business and rights by using the law and not stepping outside it—but to no avail.  Finally, with the assistance of a consulting attorney, he discovers in July 2002 the Russian mafia’s role in the nightmare inflicted on him and his property.  He brings this RICO suit.  So far, the Russian mafia juggernaut has been more powerful, more effective than the law because it lies, dissembles, prevaricates, smears, threatens, intimidates and bribes.

III.  ARGUMENT

A.  Injury


Defendants try to mislead this Court by claiming the plaintiff does not allege injuries to business and property but to the person.  Mundy Brief, p.32-3, p.43-3, achieves this misrepresentation by stating the Complaint seeks compensation for predicate acts that imperiled the plaintiff’s “safety, life, liberty and right not to live in fear” than mixes in the actual allegations of injury to business and property as though they were personal.  The Hollander Brief, p.36 n.1, makes clear, the plaintiff does not claim RICO damages for defendants imperiling his safety, life, liberty and right not to live in fear or any injuries to the person.

The “legal entitlement to business relations unhampered by schemes prohibited by RICO” is a property interest sufficient to provide standing.  Diaz v. Gates, 420 F.3d 897, 899 (9th Cir. 2005)(citation omitted); Williams v. Mohawk, 411 F.3d 1252, 1260 (11th Cir. 2005).  Plaintiff’s pleadings contend that the numerous predicate acts by defendants harmed plaintiff’s business and property.  (Complaint ¶¶900-07, A 111-12; Supp. Complaint ¶77, A-122.)  


For example, RICO violations harmed plaintiff’s business reputation and goodwill.  (Complaint ¶¶902-03, 907(e), A 111-12; Supp. Complaint ¶77, A-122.)  Defendants wrongly claim that injuries to “business or professional reputation and goodwill” are not business or property harms.  For support, Mundy Brief, p.32-4, p.34-1, cites to 10 cases—eight without specific page cites, and again at id., p.44-1, cites to eight cases also without specific page cites.  Are they hiding something?  Yes, the cases they cite mostly do not support their proposition, and to the extent they do, create a conflict with other circuits.  In Kimm v. Lee, 2005 WL 89386*4-6 (S.D.N.Y.), the court dismissed the complaint for failing to allege the predicate acts—not failing to allege injury.  This Court in Bankers Trust Co. v. Rhoades, 741 F.2d 511, 515-16 (2d Cir. 1984) found an injury but no predicate act.  Tsipouras v. W&M Properties, Inc., 9 F.Supp.2d 365, 368 (S.D.N.Y. 1998), conflicts with the following cases, including a S.D.N.Y. case, that all hold injuries to business reputation or goodwill are compensable under RICO: Philatelic Foundation v. Kaplan, 1986 WL 5629 at * 11 (S.D.N.Y. May 9, 1986), dismissed in part 647 F.Supp. 1344 (business reputation injury); Clark v. Stipe Law Firm, LLP, 320 F.Supp.2d 1207, 1213-14 (W.D.Okla. 2004)(professional reputation injury); Guerrero v. Gates, 110 F.Supp.2d 1287, 1293 (C.D. Cal. 2000)(damage to professional reputation); Ford Motor Co. v. B & H Supply, Inc., 646 F.Supp. 975, 999 (D. Minn. 1986)(injury to Ford’s reputation and goodwill); Gamboa v. City of Chicago, 2003 U.S. Dist. Lexis 13706 *9 (N.D. Ill.)(loss of business reputation is injury—dicta).  


Hollander Brief, pp 32-39, presents the arguments for other cognizable injuries to business and property, such as legal fees incurred in defending against proceedings initiated or threatened, Gamboa, 2003 U.S. Dist. Lexis 13706 *9, by defendants in order to further the RICO Scheme (Complaint ¶¶ 229, 234, 239, 240, 307-14, A 44-45, 51-52). 

 Defendants claim the District Court “indicated that indefinite, speculative and unprovable damages are not recoverable,” Mundy Brief p.34-2, but don’t cite the Order and don’t apply their proposition to any damage allegations.  All the “speculative” cases cited by defendants concern damages that might occur in the future, not damages that already happened.  E.g. Hecht v. Commerce Clearing House, Inc., 897 F.2d 21, 24 (2d Cir. 1990).  The lost debt cases:  Stochastic v. DiDomenico, 995 F.2d 1158, 1165-66 (2d Cir.), cert.denied, 510 U.S. 945 (1993); First Nationwide Bank v. Gelt Funding, 27 F.3d 763, 768 and Bankers Trust Co. v. Rhodes, 859 F.2d 1096, 1106 (2d Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1007 (1993) all held the damages at the time of the RICO litigation were speculative because it was still unknown how much would be recovered through other concurrent proceedings or collection efforts that had not yet concluded.  Since courts don’t have crystal balls, such future damages are considered speculative, indefinite and unprovable.  The damages alleged in this case have already occurred.  

B.  Proximate Cause 


The defendants wrongly claim the rule for determining RICO standing in this Court does not “depend on whether there is proximate causation as that term is defined in common law.”  Mundy Brief p.35-3.  

Standing under RICO requires pleading (1) defendant’s violation of 18 U.S.C. 1962, (2) injury to plaintiff’s business or property, and (3) causation of the injury by defendant’s violation.  Lerner v. Fleet Bank, 318 F.3d 113, 120 (2d Cir.2003).  Element (3)—causation—requires “but for” and proximate cause.  Proximate causation is determined by common law principles.  Desiano v. Warner Lambert Co., 326 F.3d 339, 346 (2d Cir. 2003)(citing Laborers Local 17 v. Phillip Morris, Inc., 191 F.3d 229, 234 (2d Cir. 1999)).  The Supreme Court, Holmes v. Securities Investor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 267-69, 117 L.Ed.2d 532, 112 S.Ct. 1311 (1992), and other circuits also call for using common law proximate causation, e.g. Brandenburg v. Seidel, 859 F.2d 1179, 1189 (4th Cir. 1988); Kaufman v. BDO Seidman, 984 F.2d 182, 185 (6th Cir. 1993); Israel Travel Advis. Serv. v. Israel Iden. Tours, 61 F.3d 1250, 1257 (7th Cir. 1995).  

Proximate causation requires (1) direct injury as opposed to a passed-on or derivative harm and (2) foreseeability.  Desiano at 346.  Stated another way: “Central to the notion of proximate cause is the idea that a person is not liable to all those who may have been injured by his conduct, but only to those with respect to whom his acts were [1] ‘a substantial factor in the sequence of responsible causation,’ and [2] whose injury was ‘reasonably foreseeable or anticipated as a natural consequence.’”  Lerner, 318 F.3d 113, 123 (2d Cir. 2003)(citing First Nationwide Bank, 27 F.3d 763, 769 (2d Cir, 1994)).     

Extrapolating the standing requirement for suing under certain statutes—plaintiff must (1) belong to the class the statute sought to protect and (2) suffer the type of harm meant to be prevented—to reach the tenuous conclusion that foreseeability in civil RICO requires criminals (1) to specifically intend harm to a particular person and (2) to do so by inflicting a specifically intended injury, Abrahams v. Young & Rubicam, Inc., 79 F.3d 234, 237-39 (2d Cir. 1996); In re American Express Co. Shareholder Litig., 39 F.3d 395, 400 (2d Cir. 1994), conflicts with the Supreme Court and other circuits.  Although, it’s an effective way of limiting the number of RICO suits. 

To the extent this Court limits the element of foreseeability, as contended in Mundy Brief, p.35-37, to the targets, competitors, intended victims and customers of the racketeering enterprise, Ideal Steel Supply Corp. v. Anza, 373 F.3d 251, 260 (2d Cir. 2004)(citing Lerner, 318 F.3d at 124 and Sperber v. Boesky, 849 F.2d 60, 65 (2d Cir. 1988)), it is in conflict with the proximate cause requirements of the Supreme Court, Holmes, 503 U.S. at 267-69, other circuits, BCCI Holdings (Lux.), S.A. v. Khalil, 214 F.3d 168, 173-74 (D.C.Cir.), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 958 (2000); Khurana, 130 F.3d 143, 151-52 (5th Cir. 1997); Terre Du Lac Ass’n, Inc. v. Terre Du Lac, Inc., 772 F.2d 467, 472 (8th Cir. 1985)(citation omitted), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1082 (1986) and commentators, Rakoff and Goldstein, RICO Civil and Criminal, §4.02[7] (“[T]he RICO plaintiff need not be the target of the RICO conspiracy or the intended victim of the RICO predicate acts, as long as plaintiff’s business or property was … injured as a proximate result of the violation.”).  

To the extent this Court requires injuries from a “preconceived purpose of the RICO activities,” Mundy Brief, p.35-3, it is in conflict with Holmes, 503 U.S. at 267-69, and Diaz, 420 F.3d at 901-02 (9th Cir,) (“There is … no room in the statutory language for an additional, amorphous requirement that, for an injury to be to business or property, the … interest [must] have been the direct target of the predicate act.  The statute is broad, but that is the statute we have.  Were the standard as [Mundy] claims, we would have the anomalous result that one could be liable under RICO for destroying a business if one aimed a bomb at it, but not if one aimed at the business owner, missed and hit the business by accident, or if one aimed at the business owner who happened to be in the business at the time.”)  

The pleadings, however, allege plaintiff as a target of defendants’ RICO violations and a customer, albeit an unwitting one, of the racketeers.  Hollander Brief p.50-1 to p.51-1. To be sure, the Russian mafia Scheme targets others, but no precedent suggests that a racketeering enterprise many have only one target.  Baisch v.Gallina, 346 F.3d 366, 375 (2d Cir. 2003).  Many harms caused plaintiff were obviously preconceived by the defendants, such as tricking plaintiff into sponsoring and paying for defendant Shipilina’s fraudulently obtained immigrant visa, lulling him into paying for her flight to America, attempting to coerce plaintiff into lying to the INS that included bringing a fraudulent restraining order that cost him to defend against, increasing litigation costs by stonewalling an annulment-divorce trial that would have exposed the Scheme, adding to litigation expenses by intimidating annulment-divorce witnesses into not providing pre-discovery information, costing plaintiff $3500 to defend against a false arrest and increasing the expenses of this RICO action by attempting to obstruct it.  Hollander Brief p.34-2 to p.35-1.  All intended to make justice too costly to pursue and thereby protect the mob’s Scheme.  


The Mundy Brief, pp.39-2 to 43-1, cites a number of cases to support the District Court’s finding that plaintiff’s pleadings failed to allege proximate causation.  The holdings in those cases found the proximate cause element (1) “direct injury” lacking; that is, the injuries were “passed-on” or “derivative” or “indirect.”  “[T]he critical question posed by the direct injury test is whether the damages a plaintiff sustains are derivative of an injury to a third party.  If so, then the injury is indirect; if not, it is direct.”  Desiano, 326 F.3d at 346 (quoting Laborers Local 17, 191 F.3d at 238-39.  “[A] plaintiff who complained of harm flowing merely from the misfortunes visited upon a third person by the defendant’s acts was generally said to stand at too remote a distance to recover.”  Holmes, 503 U.S. at 268-69.  Plaintiff in this case does not allege damages derivative of injuries to third parties
 and the District Court didn’t find any.  Hollander Brief p.41-1.  

C.  Mundy Misrepresents District Court’s Order


Mundy’ attorneys make a few important misrepresentations in the Mundy Brief Point (I)(C), pp 44-48, about what the District Court held and plaintiff alleges.  
Editing District Court’s Order

The “relaxed analysis” the Mundy Brief, p.45-1, claims the District Court used refers to the Rule 12(b)(6) pro se standard, Order p.7-2, A-137, not the determination of proximate cause for which the District Court used the “targets, competitor, intended victims and harm” test.  Id. p.9-2, A-139.

Mundy tries to obfuscate the District Court’s error in holding “[p]laintiff, in essence, portrays himself … as a whistleblower…,” Order p.12-2 A-142; contra Hollander Brief pp 43 to 47, by claiming the Court really stated “to the extent Hollander portrays himself as a Whistleblower,” Mundy Brief p.46-2.    

The District Court erroneously drew a bold Maginot Line at August 2000 for its fabricated intervening event of plaintiff’s discovery of the Scheme.  Hollander Brief, p.13-1.  Mundy’s attorneys try to erase the Court’s error by illogically claiming injuries before August 2000 resulted from plaintiff’s actions on or after August 2000, Mundy Brief, p.45-3, p. 46-3; Contra Hollander Brief p.25, p.52-2, p.53-1.  As an alternative to this Doctor Who view of time, the Mundy Brief, p.46 n.17, asserts the District Court’s Maginot Line is irrelevant.  Not to the District Court, which based its opinion of that manufactured intervening event. Order p.2-1, p.11-2, p.12-1, p.13-2, A-132, 141-43.  

Apparently defendants don’t like parts of the District Court’s opinion, so they simply change them to fit their arguments.  

Editing Plaintiff’s Allegations

Mundy’s attorneys also put words in plaintiff’s mouth, Mundy Brief, p.46 n.17, by saying plaintiff “suggested that he was aware of the alleged scheme, to some degree, in August 2000 or shortly thereafter after he commenced his investigation.”  That’s false.  (Complaint ¶¶ 170, 173, 185, 189, 198, 203, 210-212, 214-15, 220, 227 A 39-40, 42-44; Hollander Brief p.13-1.)  This RICO Complaint, as with all complaints, was not written at the time that the events occurred but afterward, when hindsight, investigation and a defendant’s diary revealed what had been taking place behind the scenes. 

Mundy Brief, p.48-2, misrepresents plaintiff as claming the defendants constitute an enterprise specifically set up to target his business and property.  Once again, the Enterprise is the Russian mafia, a big association with many illegal and legal operations, the defendants are some of its members or associates and plaintiff just one of many victims who has fallen prey to the mob’s Scheme.  Hollander Brief pp 3-8.

Mundy Brief, p.44-2, continues misleading in relating plaintiff’s injury allegations.  The Complaint alleges loss profits as a result of the “initial success of the Enterprise’s Scheme” pertaining to plaintiff and the time away from his business for various investigations to halt the harm being done to his interests.  (Complaint ¶907(a).)  The investigations also incurred costs, Complaint 907(d), but at the time of their being conducted, it was unknown they were caused by RICO activities.  

D.  Pattern Continuity

Closed-ended

Mundy Brief, p.51-4, p.52-1, falsely claims De Falco v. Bernas, 244 F.3d 286, 321 (2d Cir. 2001), holds: “In determining the duration of a pattern of racketeering activity, Courts focus solely on the predicate acts of racketeering each defendant is alleged to have committed.”  The De Falco Court did not look at each individual defendant’s acts in isolation, but at all the defendants’ acts together in determining duration:  “[t]he duration of a pattern of racketeering is measured by the RICO predicate acts the defendants [plural] commit.”  De Falco at 321.  The focus for determining continuity duration is on the acts all the defendants committed on behalf of the criminal entity, not on each defendant’s conduct viewed in isolation from other members of the enterprise.  The whole purpose of enacting RICO was to reach criminal organizations.  Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494, 496, 146 L.Ed.2d 561, 120 S.Ct. 1608 (2000).

Mundy Brief, p.52-2, focuses only on Mundy’s predicate acts without addressing that these acts, along with those of other defendants, (Complaint ¶¶878-885, A 109-110) are part of “a series of related predicates” over a substantial period of time, H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Co., 492 U.S. 229, 242, 106 L.Ed.2d 195, 109 S.Ct. 2893 (1989), which for this Court is apparently two years, De Falco at 321.  The series of predicate acts aimed at plaintiff by members of the Russian mafia began in 1999 when defendants Shipilina and Perlin targeted plaintiff as part of the Russian mafia’s ongoing Scheme to infiltrate and expand its operations in the U.S., Complaint ¶¶135-36, A-36, with the latest known predicate act taking place on July 21, 2004 when defendant Shipilina obstructed this RICO proceeding by falsely concealing facts, Supp. Complaint ¶70, A-121.  

The most recent known predicate acts concerning Mundy are mail fraud in filing a disciplinary complaint to further the Scheme on April 23, 2003, Supp. Complaint ¶55, A-120, and the predicate acts stemming from the threatening telephone call of June 2003, id. ¶¶2-18, A 114-16.  All of Mundy’s acts against plaintiff are part of keeping the Russian mafia’s business Scheme on track.  Hollander Brief, p.6-2, p.7-1.  Even accepting Mundy’s skewed view of the law, the time period measured from their admitted beginning date of October 2000, Mundy Brief, p.52-2, to June 2003 is over two years.  

Open-ended

“Where the enterprise is engaged primarily in racketeering activity, and the predicate acts are inherently unlawful, there is a threat of continued criminal activity, and thus open-ended continuity.”  Cofacredit, S.A. v. Windsor Plumbing Supply Co., 187 F.3d 229, 242-43 (2d Cir. 1999)(citing see H.J. Inc., 492 U.S. 229, 242-43).  The Enterprise is not Mundy, they are just members of it.  The Enterprise is the Russian mafia.  Hollander Brief, p.3-2, p.5-1.  This Court can take judicial notice that the Russian mafia primarily engages in inherently unlawful racketeering activities or refer to the Complaint at ¶¶1, 10-15, 880-83, A 24-26, 109.

Open-ended continuity also exists where there was a threat of continuing criminal activity.  Cofacredit, 187 F.3d at 242.  Mundy claims that plaintiff’s allegations describe only past criminal acts of a discrete and short-lived scheme, Mundy Brief, p.54-2, but the analysis of the threat of continuity cannot be made from hindsight, U.S. v. Busaca, 936 F.2d 232, 238 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 985 (1991).  Rather courts determine whether the predicate acts posed a threat at the time of occurrence.  E.g., A. Terzi Prods. V. Theatrical Protective Union, 2 F.Supp.2d 485, 508 (S.D.N.Y. 1998).  Just five weeks after defendants were mailed on April 20, 2003 the Complaint and wavier of summons request, the plaintiff received another threatening telephone call—this time from a thuggish-sounding man speaking in Russian.  The threat was plain, if the plaintiff returned to Krasnodar to continue gathering evidence against the mob defendants in this federal action, then it was going to be bad for him.  (Supp. Complaint ¶2, A-114.)  This made clear at the time that the Enterprise was not through with the plaintiff.  Further, the Mundy Brief, p.6-1, admits the ongoing Scheme in the continuing efforts to obtain a Russian mafia asset permanent residency and citizenship despite Shipilina’s violation of immigration laws, Complaint ¶¶191-93, A-41, and felonies by claiming U.S. citizenship in registering to vote, Complaint ¶¶459, 743-44, A-65, 94.  

E.  Russian Mafia Enterprise

Defendants try to confuse a Rule 12(b)(6) appeal with one from a summary judgment or a trial by citing cases requiring proof.  Mundy Brief p.55-3, p.56-2.   Defendants quote from U.S. v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 583, 69 L.Ed.2d 246, 101 S.Ct. 2524 (1981), that an enterprise is “proved by evidence” but omit that Turkette was an appeal of a conviction after trial—not of a motion to dismiss where “[t]he pleading of additional evidence is not only unnecessary, but in contravention of proper pleading procedure.”  Geisler v. Petrocelli, 616 F.2d 636, 640 (2d Cir. 1980).

This Court has expressly disavowed the Mundy Brief, p.55-3, p.57-2, argument that an enterprise must have a “hierarchy,” “structural continuity” or “distinctness” extending beyond the performance of the pattern of racketeering activity.  Moss v. Morgan Stanley, Inc., 719 F.2d 5, 22 (2d Cir. 1983); United States v. Bargaric, 706 F.2d 42, 55 (2d Cir. 1983); United States v. Mazzei, 700 F.2d 85, 88 (2d Cir. 1983).  Defendants base their position on Goldfine v. Sichenzia, 118 F.Supp.2d 392, 400 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); Black Radio Network, Inc. v. NYNEX Corp., 44 F.Supp.2d 565, 580 (S.D.N.Y. 1999); and Schmidt v. Fleet Bank, 16 F.Supp.2d 340, 349-50 (S.D.N.Y. 1998), which derive their holdings from the Eight Circuit.  This Court disagreed with Schmidt on precisely the points for which the defendants cite Goldfine and Black Radio.  “Our Circuit has rejected the Eighth Circuit’s restrictive approach to the enterprise element….  The enterprise need not necessarily have a continuity extending beyond the performance of the pattern of racketeering acts alleged, or a structural hierarchy, so long as it is in fact an enterprise defined in the statute.  We have repeatedly found a sufficient enterprise where the complaint alleges a group without centralized hierarchy formed for the sole purpose of carrying out a pattern of racketeering acts.”  See Pavlov v. Bank of New York Co., Inc., 2002 WL 63576*71 (2d Cir. Jan. 14, 2002)(unpublished decision). 

In Hansel’n Gretel Brand, Inc. v. Savitsky, 1997 WL 543088, *2 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 3, 1997) the court rejected that a complaint must allege a common link among defendants other than the racketeering activities or allege that defendants played roles in the enterprise distinct from the racketeering activities.  The Second Circuit in United States v. Mazzei, 700 F.2d 85, 89 (2d Cir. 1983), found that Turkette didn’t require a “distinction” element as claimed by defendants:  “[T]here is no language in the legislative history to indicate that the alleged enterprise must engage in activities separate and distinct from illicit” conduct.  Further, in Colony Holbrook, Inc. v. Strata, G.C., Inc., 928 F.Supp. 1224, 1235-36 (E.D.N.Y. 1996), the court rejected the view that an enterprise encompasses only an association with an ascertainable structure having an existence apart from the commission of the predicate acts.

But if this Court decides otherwise, the Russian mafia engages in racketeering activities harming others.  (Complaint ¶¶879-85, A 109-10.)  Deleting the alleged predicate acts that harmed plaintiff still leaves a distinct association with members, including defendants, engaging in criminal activities.  E.g. Complaint ¶¶27, 466, 469, 470, 485, 490, 502, 520-21, 544, A-27, 66-73.  

Further, the Complaint, ¶11, A-26, alleges participation in the Scheme by law firms and corporations whose existence as legal entities is sufficient, of themselves, to give the Enterprise a structure separate from racketeering activities.  Webster v. Omnitrition Intern., Inc., 79 F.3d 776, 786 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 865 (1996).

Mundy Brief, p.57-3, p.58-1, again claims the Enterprise consists of only the defendants—no, it consists of the Russian mafia.  The defendants are merely members operating in different sections of the Enterprise furthering its goals.  Complaint ¶15, A-26; Opposition Memorandum p.1-1, 3-1, 28-2, A-128; Hollander Brief p.11-3.  Plaintiff does not allege defendants as a tight-knit, special group within the mob—just fellow travelers seeking fortune and, for some, glory by way of the Russian mafia. 

F.  “General” and “Conclusory”


Mundy Brief, p.49-1, misleads by failing to say the injuries that the District Court found as “general” and “conclusory” occurred only after August 2000—the date the Court mistakenly used for plaintiff’s discovery of the Scheme.  Order p.12-1 n.6; p.13-2, A 142-43.  Before August 2000, the Court held—wrongly—that plaintiff didn’t allege any injuries.  Order p.11-2, p.12-1, A 141-42, contra Hollander Brief, p.25.  Mundy’s prevarication tries to cover-up this error by the Court.  


Mundy’s attorneys cite no cases for supporting the District Court’s finding of certain allegations as “conclusory” and “general,” but criticize plaintiff for using cases and a law review article in opposition that give some historical perspective of the law’s development.  Mundy Brief, p.49-2.  Apparently, these attorneys believe the truism that “He who ignores history is doomed to repeat it.” 


FlashDancers Brief goes further than Mundy and the District Court by arguing all the allegations against FlashDancers defendants are “general,” “conclusory” or insufficient.  Contra NOW, Inc v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256, 127 L.Ed.2d 99, 114 S.Ct. 798 (1994); U.S. v. Employing Plasterer’s Ass’n, 347 U.S. 186, 188, 98 L.Ed. 618, 74 S.Ct. 452, 454 (1954).  

FlashDancers’ attorneys use a few ruses in their argument: (1) FlashDancers Brief, p.7-2, tries to apply Rule(9)(b) to allegations of predicate acts other than fraud in contradiction of the Supreme Court declining to extend beyond fraud or mistake the Rule 9(b) requirement of greater particularity in pleadings.  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema NA, 534 U.S. 506, 513, 152 L.Ed.2d 1, 122 S.Ct. 992 (2002).  (2) They quote from cases without specifying the allegations in those cases held insufficient so as to prevent a comparison to plaintiff’s allegations listed at FlashDancers Brief, pp 9-13.  (3) They use the Mundy scheme of not citing to specific pages in seven cases Old Time Enters p.7-2, Lubin p.8-1, Glenn p.14-3, Correa-Martinez p.14-5, The Dartmouth Review, p.15-3, West 79th Street Corp. p.15-4, In re MasterCard Int’l Inc. p.19-1.  Ironically, Glenn v. First Nat’l Bank, 868 F.2d 368, 371 (10th Cir. 1989), states the court was not going to do the parties work for them.  (4) They quote two cases, FlashDancers Brief, p.14-1, p.16-1, one without the page cite, that RICO complaints are more strictly scrutinized because they have “an almost inevitable stigmatizing effect” on defendants.  This, however, contradicts the Supreme Court, “[a]s for stigma, a civil RICO proceeding leaves no greater stain than do a number of other proceedings.”  Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 492, 105 S.Ct. 3275, 3280 (1985).

G.  FlashDancers Harem of Misinformation  

FlashDancers Brief, pp 16-19, misrepresents plaintiff’s allegations and ignores the law.  

FlashDancers defendants are alleged members of the Russian mafia who committed predicate acts on behalf of other defendants.  (Complaint ¶¶ 17-23, 683, A 26-27, 88.)  Liability for injuries from RICO violations is joint and several among the members of the criminal enterprise.  Fleischhauer v. Feltner, 879 F.2d 1290, 1301 (6th Cir. 1989); see also Beneficial Standard Life Ins. Co. v. Madariaga, 851 F.2d 271, 272 (9th Cir. 1988).  The allegation of conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. 1962(d) includes the allegation of defendants being joint and severally liable, since they are co-conspirators.  Oki Semiconductor Co. v. Wells Fargo Bank, 298 F.2d 768, 775 (9th Cir. 2002)(citations omitted).  Moreover, persons who actively and knowingly work for an organization that engages in criminal activity should be liable for the criminal acts of other members.  Scales v. U.S., 367 U.S. 203, 226-27, 6 L.Ed.2d 782, 81 S.Ct. 1469, 1485 (1960).    

Included in the FlashDancers predicate acts, Complaint ¶¶466-484, A 66-68, are three threatening telephone calls constituting tampering with a witness and informant, id. ¶¶479, 482, A-68.  FlashDancers Brief, p.17, admits members of FlashDancers “assisting” in the calls.  Persons violate predicate acts under 18 U.S.C. 1961(1) when they willfully commit the offense, aid, abet, counsel, command, induce, or procure or cause its commission.  18 U.S.C. 2.  

FlashDancers Brief, pp 18-19, cites cases concerning fraudulent predicate acts for a “lumping” prohibition, but tampering with a witness or informant is not a fraudulent act.  Further, whether Barry, Manager 3, 4 or 5 participated in trying to silence plaintiff is peculiarly within defendants’ knowledge and even under Rule 9(b), pleadings on information and belief of data peculiarly within defendants’ knowledge should be read permissively.  Luce v. Edelstein, 802 F.2d 49, 54 n.1 (2d Cir. 1986); Berk v. Tradewell, 2003 Lexis 12078 * 39 (S.D.N.Y.).

Contrary to FlashDancers Brief, p.18-1, scienter for FlashDancers predicate acts are alleged at Complaint ¶682, A-88, and the Enterprise, not the predicate acts, must be engaged in or effect interstate or foreign commerce, U.S. v. Murphy, 768 F.2d 1518, 1531 (7th Cir. 1985), which the Complaint alleges at ¶¶874, A 107-08  

H.  Henning Brief

Although Henning is an employee of the City, the alleged illegal actions of receiving bribes or rewards to commit intentional torts are not within the scope of his employment.  Henning—not the City—is the real party in interest.  See Longin v. Kelly, 875 F.Supp. 196, 201-03 (SDNY 1995).   

 I.  Leave to Amend Once


In a RICO action where injuries are derivative, i.e. passed-on, an amendment of the complaint would be futile.  Westenberg v. CNF Transportation, Inc., 2002 U.S. App. Lexis 15803*4.  But the case here does not claim injury passing through a third party; therefore, when the Complaint was dismissed and plaintiff had requested to file an amended complaint, that request should ordinarily have been granted, especially when there had been no prior amendment.  Riccuti v. NYC Transit Auth., 941 F.2d 119, 123 (2d Cir. 1991).  

Mundy’s attorneys know this, so they resort to name-calling and argue that when a plaintiff approaches executive agencies or courts on causes of action distinct from RICO, the liberal standard granting leave to amend—even once—transmutes into slamming the courthouse doors in a plaintiff’s face.  Mundy Brief, pp 59-61.

In this RICO action, there has been only a complaint and supplemental complaint alleging criminal violations by various members of the Russian mafia and attendant motions necessitated by defendants filing motions to dismiss.  There have been no other RICO or similar causes of actions filed by plaintiff, although the F.B.I. has started an investigation into some allegations.  The Mundy Brief, p.60-3, injunction cases deal with multiple suits for the same cause of action—in one 32 suits.

IV.  CONCLUSION


The modus operandi of the defense attorneys is clear:  misrepresent the law and the allegations, add a good measure of demeaning, denigrating, defaming, demonizing and dissing the plaintiff, and presto, their opponent has no rights left that the government will recognize.
  It’s worked so far.

� The counter-arguments in this Reply apply to all the defendants-appellees’ briefs.


� Petrovich was properly served and an Affidavit of Service filed, Docket Entry 3, A-7.





� Of the 35 documents that Mundy’s attorneys inflated the record with, the plaintiff relied on only parts of six, see Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 153 (2d Cir. 2002)(plaintiff must rely on document).


� Cf. Mundy Brief p.46-3 (no injuries flowing through third party, Mundy confuses “indirect” or “derivative” with District Court’s alleged intervening event).


�  Some prevaricating and irrelevant factual allegations of the defense attorneys:





Mundy Brief, p.3-2, p.4-1, p.12 n.6, 7, p.59-2; FlashDancers Brief, p.2-2, ridicule plaintiff's use of the legal system and falsify the results: “all rebuff[ed]” or found “meritless.”  The INS began removal proceedings against Shipilina, the New York City Board of Elections referred Shipilina’s voter registration felonies to the U.S. Attorney and Queens District Attorney, the Krasnodar prosecutor indicted one defendant, the F.B.I. opened an investigation and tracked down the man who made three of the four threatening calls, and Queens County Court issued a summons.  (Complaint ¶¶247-52, 272, 286, 459, 743, 862-67, A-46, 48-49, 65, 94, 106-07; Supp. Complaint ¶8, A-115.)  The only reason for an intentional infliction of emotional distress in state court, Mundy Brief p.13-2, 59-3, FlashDancers Brief p.2-2, was to toll the statute of limitations until the RICO suit, containing an identical supplemental state claim, was filed. 


Defense attorneys paint plaintiff as the culpable rather than duped party to invoke the “in pari delicto” defense the Supreme Court rejected for statutes providing private enforcement.  See Bateman Eichler, Hill Richards, Inc. v. Berner, 472 U.S. 299, 306-08, 86 L.Ed.2d 215, 105 S.Ct. 2622 (1985)(antitrust).  They falsely claim plaintiff married Shipilina—a necessary part of the RICO Scheme—after learning about her slipping him drugs.  Mundy Brief p.7-2, 3.  Complaint, ¶¶175-77, A-39, says “surreptitious,” which in English means plaintiff didn’t know about it.  They falsify plaintiff was secretly fed narcotics for two years straight.  Mundy Brief p.21-3.  The Complaint, ¶¶137, 166, 168, 171, 172, 175-185, A-36, 38-40, states on “various occasions.”  Plaintiff doesn’t allege Shipilina fed him narcotics to avoid an annulment/divorce, Mundy Brief p.7-4, but “to divert him from learning about her activities as part of” the Russian mob, Complaint at ¶216, A-43.  


Mundy Brief, p.21-3, falsely claims plaintiff was aware of Shipilina's profession before the fraudulently induced marriage in March 2000, but the Complaint states plaintiff didn’t realize her prostitution or marriage to him for immigration purposes until October 2000, Complaint ¶220, A-44.  


Mundy Brief, p.8-1, lies that plaintiff’s investigations resulted from a “fascination.”  The initial investigation was to determine whether a wife was a prostitute.  (Complaint ¶¶214-15, A-43.)  But when plaintiff in November 2000 refused to lie to the INS, Complaint ¶¶224-26, A-44, certain defendants engaged in predicate acts to intimidate him into lying in order to protect the mob’s Scheme. (Complaint ¶¶ 228-319, A 44-52; Supp. Complaint ¶¶ 1-21, 49-72, A 114-16, 119-121.) 


Mundy Brief, p.8-1, 59-3, misleads that plaintiff “commenced a defamation action in Russia”—the Krasnodar prosecutor brought a criminal defamation indictment.  (Complaint ¶¶270-72, A-48.)  The Krasnodar Department of Internal Affairs closed the case for a bribe of $10,000 arranged by Mundy.  (Complaint ¶¶298-303, A 50-51.)


Mundy Brief, p.8-2, p.22-2, lies that plaintiff “acknowledges that Mundy were merely representing Shipilina” in a domestic relations matter and that was Mundy’s only involvement with the mob.  Mundy are key figures in obtaining visas, residency and naturalization for Russian mafia prostitutes; using coercion against informants and witnesses before federal agencies; participants in money laundering and use of international facilities to aid a racketeering enterprise; among other predicate acts.  (Complaint ¶¶ 27-34, 485-513, A 27-28, 68-71.)


Mundy Brief, p.8-3, prevaricates the report of alleged extortion filed against plaintiff.  No charges were pressed, and the real purpose of it was to intimidate plaintiff into lying before the INS to assure permanent residency for a lucrative Russian mafia asset.  (Complaint ¶¶228-32, A 44-45.)


Mundy Brief, p.8-3, p.21-4, omits the protection order against plaintiff was temporary, subsequently dismissed and based on perjury suborned by Mundy to intimidate plaintiff into lying to the INS.  (Complaint ¶¶234, 239-41, 311, A-45, 52.)


Mundy Brief, p.9 n.4, faults plaintiff for leaving out criminal allegations against Mundy in the February 2001 annulment/divorce pleading.  Plaintiff wasn’t divorcing Mundy, the allegations were determined by plaintiff’s counsel and at the time, their significance as predicate acts were unknown.


Mundy Brief, p.9-3, p.13-1, lies that plaintiff’s “desire to terminate the marriage” led to RICO accusations against various defendants.  The divorce occurred in November 2001, the motion to reform the divorce—May 2002, discovery of the RICO Scheme—July 2002 and the RICO accusations filed in April 2003.  (Complaint ¶284, A-49; Hollander Brief, p.13-1.)  


Queens District Attorney determined the website criticized by Mundy Brief, p.10-1, 2, was legal, there is no record of a police report, just the threat of a false arrest to keep plaintiff from cooperating with the INS in Moscow.  (Complaint ¶¶306-315, A51-52.)


Mundy Brief, pp. 12-2, 13-1, shows the attorneys stunning lack of decency (the kind Shakespeare referred to in Henry VI) by using a medical issue to stigmatize plaintiff.  


Mundy Brief, p.13-3, 4, misleads that Mundy filed a disciplinary complaint against plaintiff before learning about this RICO suit.  After Mundy received the RICO Complaint as part of a request for waiver of summons, he then filed his disciplinary action that even refers to the RICO suit.  The action was quickly dismissed.  


Mundy Brief, p.15-3, refers to an unspecified document in order to put words in the plaintiff’s mouth concerning connections among certain defendants. 


Mundy Brief, p.20-1(F), misstates the Complaint, ¶907(a), which alleges loss of profits "from cessation of normal work as a result of the initial success of the Enterprise's Scheme in defrauding the plaintiff into arranging for Member Shipilina to enter the U.S…."  (Emphasis added.)  Id., p.20-1(H)-(I), also truncates the actual allegations of expenses to fit the District Court's misunderstanding. 


Mundy Brief, p.23-1, asserts the “proper authorities” should deal with plaintiff’s allegations because the “RICO statute was not designed to allow private citizens to redress the wrongs Hollander claims….”  Congress disagrees, one purpose of civil RICO was “encouraging civil litigation to supplement Government efforts to deter and penalize the respectively prohibited practices,” Rotella v. Wood, 528 U.S. 549, 557, 145 L.Ed.2d 1047, 120 S.Ct. 1075 (2000).   


Mundy Brief, p.24 n.12(1), falsely states authorities “ignore[d]” the June 2003 threatening call.  Authorities investigated but could not track down a number from which the threat was made.  (Supp. Complaint ¶¶3-8, A 114-15.)  


Mundy Brief, p.24 n.12(2), ignores the F.B.I.’s Acting Chief of its Investigative Law Unit found that a Milwaukee agent did counsel certain defendants to file a false harassment charge against plaintiff.  (Supp. Complaint ¶¶22-43, A 117-18.) 


Mundy Brief, p.25-3, 4, n.14, reproaches plaintiff for correcting an error by the District Court that unfairly impacted only plaintiff.  Judge Castel admonished plaintiff for violating his page limits but said nothing about Mundy violating the page limits twice.  Nobody violated the limits because when both sides’ filed memoranda, Chief Judge Mukasey had the case.  Disqualify p.3-2, A-152.  Rather than waste space in an appeal brief correcting the error, plaintiff sent a letter requesting leave to file motions; such a letter is required under Castel’s rules.  Mundy prevaricates about why the letter was sent, lies by saying it was “offensive” and resorts of false opprobrium.    


Mundy Brief, p.60-2, pompously claims “abusive” plaintiff’s website for identifying plaintiffs for a class action against the Russian mafia.  Such maligning of plaintiff has as much to do with this appeal as the felony conviction for tax evasion in 1989 of the boss of Kuba, Mundy & Associates, Ronald J. Kuba.


Mundy Brief, p.58-2, and FlashDancer Brief, p.3-2, skirt the reason why defendants have some connection with the Russian mob asset, Shipilina.  She’s the thread that weaves through a few different parts of the mob.  Certain defendants committed predicate acts to bring this asset to America, others to keep her here, others to protect the mob’s overall scheme and all to help expand the mob’s activities to their benefit.  In the Watergate scandal, reporters Woodward and Bernstein followed the money; here the pleadings followed Shipilina.
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